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COUNTY OF DELAWARE 
ADDENDUM # 2 

 
REHABILITATION (OCCUPATIONAL, PHYSICAL, and SPEECH THERAPY) SERVICES 

(eFAC-040523-2) 
 

The County of Delaware’s Fair Acres Geriatric Center advertised on the County’s Website, in the Daily Times and 
Philadelphia Inquirer newspapers, the Request for Proposal for REHABILITATION SERVICES (OCCUPATIONAL, PHYSICAL, 
and SPEECH THERAPY) (eFAC-040523-2) on Monday and Tuesday, February 6 & 7, 2023 with a Mandatory Pre-Proposal 
Conference scheduled for Thursday, March 2, 2023 @ 10:30 a.m. and the Submission Deadline scheduled for Wednesday, 
April 5, 2023 @ 12:00 p.m.  
 

Due to a typographical error in the time set for the pre-proposal, Addendum #1 was advertised and posted on in the Delco 
Times on February 14, 2023 and the Philadelphia Inquirer on February 15, 2023 with the rescheduled Pre-Proposal 
Conference scheduled for 10:30 a.m., Thursday, March 2, 2023.  
 

During the Pre-Proposal Conference, several questions and concerns surfaced.  The document changes, 
answers/clarifications, are located on www.delcopa.gov/purchasing/invitbid.html answers are as follows:  
 

***BID QUESTIONS, CLARIFICATIONS AND ANSWERS*** 
 
Question #1:  Page 12; section 4.1 2) c- regarding providing 3 PA Public client references; what is the definition of public? 

Answer:   Describe the firm’s experience in providing rehabilitation (occupational, physical, speech therapy) services, 
specifically experience with issuers similar to the County. Provide a minimum of three (3) Pennsylvania references for 
whom the firm provided similar services within the past three (3) years. For each reference, include the contact 
person’s name, entity, title, address, phone number, and email address. One reference must be from a 
facility of 250 beds or more.  
  

 

Question #2:  Page 12; section 4.1 3)-regarding resumes of key members of team; shall we provide just the RVP, director, 
assistant director and secretary OR should we also provide ALL therapists, assistants and aide’s resumes as well? 
 
Answer:  Each bidder should supply the resumes for the following:  RVP, Director, Assistant Director and Secretary. 
 
Question #3:  In order to complete Appendix B and Appendix B-2 of the REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL REHABILITATION 
(OCCUPATIONAL, PHYSICAL, SPEECH THERAPY) SERVICES - Contract #: eFAC-040523-2, we are requesting the following 
census and utilization information: 
 

Answer:   

1) Average Daily Census         Approx. 100 
2) Daily Med A Census            12 
3) Daily Skilled HMO Census                   2 
4) Monthly Med A Days                       333 
5) Monthly HMO Days                                                     42 
6) PDPM Therapy Component Rate                 See Attached “Data Analytics” 3-6 below 
7) Monthly Med B Units Billed                      Approx.  4,000 
8) Monthly Med B Revenue                                            125,000.    
9) Monthly Other LTC Payer Units    963 
10) Monthly Other LTC Payer Revenue      2.5 Million 

 

http://www.delcopa.gov/purchasing/invitbid.html
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Question #4:  Please let us know if this information can be provided in a written format or an internal report to 
complete Appendix B and Appendix B-2. 
 

Answer:  Information should be written/typed on form. 
 
Question #5:  In section 3.3.2.12 you are requesting UTILIZATION Information. Can you be more specific-what are you 
asking for: CPT codes, PDPM information, number of patients on caseload typically? 
 

Answer:  We are requesting the following:  CPT codes, PDPM information and number of patients on caseload. 

Question #6:  Section 4.3.4 You state that we will be required to sign your contract, but you also request a sample contract 
as attachment #3. Do you need our contract if we are required to sign yours? 
 

Answer: No. We will not need your contract. However, the awarded vendor will be required to agree and sign Delaware 
County’s Contract. Please find a Sample Contract attached to this Addendum below.  

Question #7:  Do you need our W-9 included in the bid or only if awarded the contract? 
 

Answer: No. A W-9 Form will not need to be submitted with your bid. However, the awarded vendor will be required 
to submit a W-9.  

Question #8:   You provide Appendix H as a submission form and list 5 questions on it to provide information. Question 2 
requests “References and record success of same similar service”. You also ask for at least 3 public PA references on page 
12; section 4.1 2) c. Are you asking for the same references on Appendix H as you are in Section 4.1 2) c? 
 
Answer: Yes. Both answers are the same, however, on the Appendix H you do not have to repeat the answer, but 
instead reference its exact location in your proposal.  

Question #9:  Appendix Q, second page, entitled “Subcontractor/Consultant Statement” top of page, asks for “Amount 
of Bid”. Since this is priced per payor category and dependent on caseload which cannot be determined ahead of time, 
how are we to calculate the dollar amount that is supposed to be placed on this line? 
 

Answer: If you intend to subcontract using a diversity business, please state the anticipated amount or percentage of 
your contract’s total. However, this particular document is more so for informational purposes and will not effect 
anyone proposal results.  
 
Question #10:  Section 4.2.3 requests a Comprehensive List of Facilities-can you be more specific on “comprehensive.” 
Are there a certain number you are looking for? 
 

Answer:  All bidders are requested to supply no less then 3 references.  One reference must be a facility that has over 
250 residents.  

Question #11:  In the Appendix section there is a request to send the Performance bond document and also a sample 
bond document. Are you REQUIRING a performance bond for this contract? If so, what would the dollar amount be? 

Answer: Only the awarded vendor will be required to provide a Performance Bond for 100% of the total contract 
amount.  
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Question #12:  I am following up to see if there were any additional rehab providers show up at noon yesterday beside 
the 6 at 10:30. 

Answer: Please be informed that we did not receive any additional Rehabilitation providers to show up after the 
scheduled Mandatory Site-Visit/Pre-Proposal Meeting on March 2, 2023. The below firms are the only firms that will 
be considered for this RFP Project: 

1) Advantage Care Rehabilitation, LLC 
2) Apex Rehab Solutions 
3) Encore Rehab 
4) HealthPro Heritage 
5) Premier Therapy 
6) Select Rehabilitation  

 
Question #13:  What is the amount or percentage the county expects proposers to ensure? 

Answer:  All bidders are required to ensure the best percentage possible to the county. Please refer to Section 2.8.4 of 
the RFP document.    

Question #14:  We have the following questions—ideally would like data analytics for year end 2022.  

Answer:   

1) Current Vendor?  Encore Therapy 
2) Current Pricing?     

This information may be requested from the Delaware County Clerk’s Office in accordance with the “Open 
Records Act”. You may complete and submit your written OPEN REQUEST FORM on the Delaware County 
website using the below link: https://delcopa.gov/clerk/openrecordsgov.html .    

3) Avg facility daily census? 430  
4) Avg facility daily skilled census by payer mix?  Med A 12, MA 350, private 35, other 33 
5) Daily PT patient census/daily units/daily minutes by payer?    75 avg   2,135 units 
6) Daily OT patient census by payer/daily units/daily minutes by payer?  65 avg   1,600 units 
7) Daily ST patient census by payer/daily units/daily minutes by payer?   36 avg      300 units  
8) What is the percentage of therapy by mode of service:  individual, group, current by payer? See Attached 

“Data Analytics” 4-9 below.  
9) Average daily rate and patient count for (prefer 2022 data): See Attached “Data Analytics” 14-9 below.  

a. PDPM payer 
b. Levels payers 
c. Rug payer 

 
Question #15:   We have the following questions—ideally would like data analytics for year end 2022 (Question # 15 to 
#20). Who performs transport of patients to and from therapy? 
 
Answer:  Primarily the therapists with assistance from the rehab techs and administrative assistant when available.  
 
Question #16:  What is your EHR system? 
 
Answer:  Bluestep Billing software is Experience.care 
 

 

https://delcopa.gov/clerk/openrecordsgov.html
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Question #17:  What is your EMR system? 

Answer:  IMAR 

Question #18:  Average number of discharges per month to community? 

Answer:  2 

Question #19:  Average number of discharges per month to community with home health services? 

Answer:  2 

Question #20:  Average number of Home Health referrals per month? 

Answer:  2 

Question #21:  Has facility executed an agreement with Helion? 

Answer:  No 

Question #22:  How many denials of service have occurred in 2021 and 2022? 

Answer:  10 

Question #23:  What are your CMG utilization by categories for 2022? 

Answer:   Major Joint Replacement or Spinal Surgery  32 % 
  Other Orthopedics     45 % 
  Medical Management     23 % 
  Non-Orthopedic Surgery & Acute Neurologic    0 % 
 

Question #24:  What is the current rehab staffing level by PT, OTR, ST, PTA, COTA and if any rehab techs are directly 
employed by vendor? 
 
Answer:   4   Full Time PT’s (1 whom is also TPM) 
  4   Full Time PTA’s 
  3   Full Time OTR 
  3   Full Time COTA 
  3   Full Time SLP’s 
  1   Full Time rehab tech/admin asst.   
 
Question #25:  Is there a non-complete clause with the current contract? 
 
Answer:  Yes. 

Question #26:   Are we able to receive the full list of bidders as promised last week? 

Answer: Please see Question #12. 
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Question #27:  I attempted to check delcopa.gov/purchasing/invitbit.html for written addenda or answers to questions, 
but I believe that link is just a registration form. Is there a website for me to see up-to-date documents and answers 
pertaining to this RFP? 

Answer:   After the deadline of questions and clarifications, respondents shall check the County of Delaware’s website: 
www.delcopa.gov/purchasing/invitbid.html  to receive all written addenda(s). Vendors who attended the Mandatory 
Pre- Proposal /Site-Visit will receive the addenda via email from Central Purchasing and a copy of same will be posted 
on the County’s website as Addendum #2.  

Question #28:  Will the answers to bidder questions (due March 14) be emailed directly to all bidders? 

Answer:   Please See Question # 27. 

Question #29:  What MDS software is Fair Acres currently utilizing? 

Answer:  Bluestep & SHP (Strategic Healthcare Programs) 

Question #30:  What is current therapy documentation software? 

Answer:  NetHealth 

Question #31:  Please clarify 4.4.1.18 The Vendor agrees to bill residents and/or Medicare/Medicaid or other third-party 
insurance for services, is therapy provider the billing entity for Part B services? 

Answer:  The Vendor agrees to ensure residents treatments are covered under Medicare/Medicaid or other third-party 
insurance for services. In cases where residents are not eligible for reimbursement through the Medicare/Medicaid 
program, the Vendor agrees to obtain prior approval from the resident or his or her third party prior to initiating 
services.  Fair Acres will be the biller of record for all services rendered. 

Question #32:  Is Fair Acres currently part of any ACO networks? 

Answer:  No 

Question #33: Can Fair Acres provide vendors with Part B utilization per month for most recent 3 months as Part B units 
billed? 

Answer:   October MCRB 134 Residents      PT  2328     OT  1552 units     ST 321 units 

      Other 22 Residents  PT    286     OT    387 units      ST 140 units    

  November MCRB 121 Residents      PT  2011     OT  1546 units     ST 426 units 

   Other 25 Residents  PT    283     OT    515 units      ST 177 units 

  December MCRB 120 Residents      PT  1834     OT  1548 units     ST 370 units 

     Other 27 Residents  PT    403     OT    394 units      ST 166 units 

Question #34:  What is Fair Acres current Part A and Part B censuses?  
 
Answer:  Supplied in previous answers to questions. 
 

http://www.delcopa.gov/purchasing/invitbid.html
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Question #35:  What is Fair Acre’s current average daily PDPM rate? 
 
Answer:  See Attached “Data Analytics” 14-9 below.   
 
Question #36:  Under section 4.1 PROPOSAL FORMS - REQUIRED SUBMITALS, Number 4, what is, “for a specific debt 
issuance” referring? 
 
Answer:  N/A 
 
Question #37:  Under section 4.4 COST PROPOSAL/PAYMENT STRUCTURE is milestone payment structure applicable? 
 
Answer: Please refer Section 4.4, Number 1 of the RFP Document.  
 
Question #38:  What current Facility EHR and EMR systems are in place? 
 
Answer:  Bluestep & SHP (Strategic Healthcare Programs) IMAR 
 
Question #39:  What reimbursement systems/ scrubbers are presently utilized, if any? 
 
Answer:  SHP (Strategic Healthcare Programs) 
 
Question #40:  What outside consulting services currently support reimbursement and quality/ performance, if any? 
 
Answer:  Complete Healthcare Resources has a contract that provides Fair Acres with a Director of the Resident 
Assessment Department. 
 
Question #41:  The RFP document requests a fee schedule based upon the assumption that Fair Acres will be the biller 
of record for all services rendered. However, this section suggests that is not the case: 4.4.1.18 The Vendor agrees to 
bill residents and/or Medicare/Medicaid or other third-party insurance for services. In cases where residents are not 
eligible for reimbursement through the Medicare/Medicaid program, the Vendor agrees to obtain prior approval from 
the resident or his or her third party prior to initiating treatment. 
Does the County intend for the respondent or the facility to be the biller? Does this apply for all services, or are some to 
be billed by the County, and some by the provider (in which case, please specify)? 

Answer:  The Vendor agrees to ensure residents treatments are covered under Medicare/Medicaid or other third-party 
insurance for services. In cases where residents are not eligible for reimbursement through the Medicare/Medicaid 
program, the Vendor agrees to obtain prior approval from the resident or his or her third party prior to initiating 
services.  Fair Acres will be the biller of record for all services rendered. 

Question #42:  Can you please share detailed invoicing from the past three months from the incumbent rehab services 
provider? 

Answer: This information may be requested from the Delaware County Clerk’s Office in accordance with the “Open 
Records Act”. You may complete and submit your written OPEN REQUEST FORM on the Delaware County website using 
the below link: https://delcopa.gov/clerk/openrecordsgov.html .   

Question #43:  Please provide census by payer for the past three months for each, Short Term Rehab and Long-Term Care. 

Answer:  Supplied in previous answers to questions.  

https://delcopa.gov/clerk/openrecordsgov.html
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Question #44:  Please provide all billed days by payor and by level or PDPM code for short term rehab (in excel format 
and in dollars if possible). 

Answer: Supplied in previous answers to questions. 

Question #45:  Please provide total billed units for LTC by payor (Medicare, Managed Medicare, Private Pay, Medicaid, 
Other) for each of the past three months. 

Answer:  Supplied in previous answers to questions. 

Question #46:  What is the average daily rate of reimbursement for Fair Acres short term rehab patients under Medicare 
Part A? Under Managed Care Part A? 

Answer: This information may be requested from the Delaware County Clerk’s Office in accordance with the “Open 
Records Act”. You may complete and submit your written OPEN REQUEST FORM on the Delaware County website using 
the below link: https://delcopa.gov/clerk/openrecordsgov.html .   

Question #47:  What is current CMI for Fair Acres? 

Answer:  .85 

Question #48:  What is the average volume of ADRs and Denials the community is currently receiving? 

Answer:  Supplied in previous answers to questions. 

Question #49:  Where available, please provide any/ all of the following reports for each of the past three months: 

1. Monthly therapy utilization (“Service Summary Export” from Nethealth) 
2. “PDPM Report” from NetHealth 
3. “Detailed Census by Payor” Report out of PCC (or similar) 

 
Answer:     See Attached “Data Analytics” 4-9 below.  

Question #50:  Has FairAcres recently been involved in any regulatory or reimbursement probes or audits, and, if so, does 
this continue now? Please provide any related details if a probe is currently under-way. 

Answer:    Randomly picked for Social Security Audit.  Awaiting findings. 

Question #51:  In addition to an Original and three copies of the response, will it protect our Original and Copies from 
public disclosure if we also provide a redacted copy of the Response?  

Answer:  County documents are subject to Right to Know laws. 

Question #52:  Attachment 1, Bid Bond & Consent to Surety – Is this required at bid submission, I do not see Attachment 
1 or Amount? 

Answer: Although not required to submit with your proposal, a Sample Bid Bond has been attached to this Addendum 
below. However, the successful awardee will be required to submit or provide a Performance Bond.  

 

 

https://delcopa.gov/clerk/openrecordsgov.html
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Question #53:   

Attachment 2, Sample Performance Bond – Is this required at bid submission and if so, what is amount necessary? 
 
Answer:  No. However, the successful awardee will be required to submit or provide a Performance Bond for 100% of 
the total contract amount.  
 
Question #54:   

Attachment 3, Sample Contract/Agreement – Is this our typical contract or will Fair Acres supply their own?   
 
Answer: Please See Question # 6.  
 

  

 
********************ADDITIONAL PROPOSAL DOCUMENTS ATTACHED ******************* 

 
 

• DATA ANALYTICS DOCUMENTS (PDPM) 

• APPENDIX E – INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM 

• ATTACHMENT # 1 SAMPLE BID BOND & CONSENT OF SURETY 

• ATTACHMENT # 3 SAMPLE CONTRACT AGREEMENT  
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DATA ANALYTICS DOCUMENTS (PDPM) 
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3. 11424
2') 72

3) 1

4). 380
s). 30
6). See attached as 3.6
71 37s2
8). S12o,ooo
s). s63
10). $2.5 million

4. written

14. 1). Encore
2) not available

29.

3

4
5

6

7

8

9

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

.424

. M'Care 12, MA 350, Private 35
1834

. 1548

. 370

. Unavailable

. See attached as 14.9

31. answered

33 october

November

December

MCRB

Other

134 Residents

22 Residents

PT

PT

2328 units

286 units

1552 units

387 units

321 units

140 u nits

MCRS

Other
121 Residents PT

25 Residents PT

2011unit5
283 units

1546 units
515 units

426 units
177 units

MCR B

Other
120 Residents PT

27 Residents PT

1834 units
403 units

1548 units
394 unats

370 units
156 units

Blue Step

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

34. A= 20, B=t2O

35. see 14-9
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APPENDIX E 

COUNTY OF DELAWARE 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM 

 

Certificate(s) of Insurance shall be filed with the County’s Clerk’s Office upon award of contract by the County 
Council. 
 
1.1 The selected firm shall, at its sole cost and expense, procure and maintain in full force and effect covering 
the performance of the services rendered under this agreement, insurance in the types and minimum limits 
specified below. In addition to the insurance coverage and limits listed herein, the selected firm shall obtain any 
other insurance coverage as may be required by law. 
 
1.1.1 Medical Professional Liability Insurance: 
 
1.1.1.1 Limit of Liability: $5,000,000 per claim and $10,000,000 in the aggregate. 
 
1.1.1.2 If the selected firm is a Medical Professional, the selected firm shall ensure that all conditions are met 
for eligibility for MCARE fund coverage. 
 
1.1.1.3 Coverage for incidents, occurrences and claims happening during the performance of services required 
under this agreement shall be maintained in full force and effect under the policy. The policy shall be renewed 
for a period of three years after its naturally expiration.  In the event the policy is cancelled or non-renewed 
without replacement the selected firm shall purchase a three year "tail coverage/extended reporting period 
endorsement."  
 
1.1.2 General Liability Insurance: 
 
1.1.2.1 Limits of Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate. 
 
1.1.2.2 Coverage: Insurance Services Offices (ISO) Commercial General Liability form CG 00 01 04 13 or its 
equivalent covering Premise operations, blanket contractual liability for insured contracts, personal injury 
liability, products and completed operations, independent contractors, employees and volunteers acting under 
the direction of firm in the furtherance of its business as insured, joint liability, and broad form property damage 
(including completed operations). 
 
1.1.3 Workers' Compensation and Employers' Liability Insurance: 
 
1.1.3.1 Limits of Liability: Statutory Limits for Workers Compensation and for Employers Liability $1,000,000 
bodily injury by accident/$1,000,000 disease policy limit/$1,000,000 disease per employee. 
 
1.1.3.2 The Workers Compensation insurer must be licensed to do business in the state of Pennsylvania. 
 
1.1.4 Automobile Liability: 
 
1.1.4.1 Limit of Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit for bodily injury (including death) and 
property damage liability. 
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1.1.4.2 Coverage: Owned, non-owned and hired vehicles. 
 
1.1.4.3 The selected firm shall ensure that all staff operating said vehicles are licensed drivers and properly 
insured. 
 
1.1.5 Umbrella Excess Liability: 
 
1.1.5.1 Limit of Liability: $5,000,000 in the aggregate and per occurrence. 
 
1.1.5.2 Coverage provided shall be follow form over auto liability, general liability, and employers liability. 
 
1.1.6 Abuse/Sexual Molestation and Corporal Punishment Liability Insurance: 30 
 
1.1.6.1 Limit of Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence; $3,000,000 in the aggregate. 
 
1.2 All insurance provided for in this section shall be obtained under valid and enforceable policies issued by 
insurers of recognized responsibility which are licensed to do business in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 
Certificates of Insurance evidencing the existence of such insurance shall be submitted to the County upon 
execution of the contract by the selected firm. If the term of this contract coincides with the term of the selected 
firm's insurance coverage, a Certificate from the expiring policy will be accepted, but a Certificate evidencing 
renewed coverage of a new policy must be presented to the County no later than 5 days after the effective date 
of the policy. 
 
1.3 Each policy except for the Workers Compensation and Medical Professional Liability policies shall contain an 
endorsement naming Fair Acres Geriatric Center and the County of Delaware as an Additional Insured party 
thereunder on a primary and noncontributory basis; Each policy except for the Medical Professional Liability 
policy shall provide for waiver of subrogation in favor of Fair Acres and The County.  Each policy shall contain an 
endorsement providing 30 calendar days prior written notice be given to The County in the event coverage is 
canceled or non-renewed or coverage reduced. 
 
1.4 If the selected firm desires to self-insure any or all of the coverages listed in this section, it shall provide to 
the County documentation that such self-insurance has received all the approvals required by law or regulations, 
as well as the most recent audited financial statement of the selected firm's insurance. Any coverage which is 
self-insured shall provide the same coverage limits and benefits as the coverages listed in this section. 
 
1.5 If the selected firm fails to obtain or maintain the required insurance, the County shall have the right to treat 
such failure as a material breach of the contract and to exercise all appropriate rights and remedies. 
 
1.6 The selected firm shall include all subcontractors as insureds under its policies or furnish separate 
Certificates and endorsements for each subcontractor. All coverage for subcontractors shall be subject to all of 
the requirements stated in this agreement. 
 
1.7 The firm agrees to defend indemnify and hold harmless Fair Acres Geriatric Center, The County of Delaware 
and their respective officials, officers and employees for all bodily injury (including death), personal injury and 
property damage arising from the negligent acts, errors or omissions and breaches of duty under the service 
agreement committed by the firm, its officers, employees or agents. 
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Contract Approval  
A Certificate of Insurance is required evidencing all required insurance coverage as provided above with any 
required endorsements attached so as to evidence their inclusion in the coverage. The Certificate of Insurance 
is due before the Contract can be approved. The following format is required:  
List Rehabilitation (Occupational, Physical, Speech Therapy) Services, CCRFP #eFAC-040523-2 as the Scope of 
Services the certificate covers in the Description of Operations section.  
The following address must appear in the Certificate Holder section:  
County of Delaware 
County Clerk’s Office 
201 W. Front St.  
Media, PA 19063 
The Producer’s contact person’s name, phone number and e-mail address is required.  
 
Acknowledgement of Insurance Requirement: 
 
______________________________________________________       ______________________________ 

(Signature)      (Date) 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

(Printed Name and Title) 
 
  



 

 

ATTACHMENT #1 

BID BOND 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 

That we, _____________________________________ of __________________________________, 

As Principal, hereinafter referred to as Principal, and ___________________________________ Company,  a 

Corporation organized under the laws of the State of ____________________, with its home office in the city 

and state of ________________________, as Surety and hereinafter referred to as Surety, are held and firmly 

bound unto the County of Delaware as Obligee, hereinafter referred to as the County of Delaware, in the sum 

of _____________________ dollars ($_____________________) for the payment of which sum we as Principal 

and Surety bind ourselves and our legal representatives and successors, jointly and severally, by this instrument. 

WHEREAS, Principal is herewith submitting its proposal for: 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

Specified in the County of Delaware Contract Number ______________________________ 

 

IT IS THEREFORE the condition of this obligation that if the Principal shall be awarded the contract and fails 

within ten (10) days of the award to enter into a formal contract and give such good and sufficient bond as may be 

required to secure the performance of the terms and conditions of the contract, then the Principal and the amount 

for which the County of Delaware contracts with another party to perform the work if the later sum is in excess of 

the former. 

If the Principal shall be awarded the contract and within ten (10) days, enters into a formal contract and gives such 

good and sufficient bond as may be required to secure the performance of the terms and conditions of the contract, 

then this obligation shall be null and void; otherwise, it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands this _____ day of _________, 20_____. 

Principal _________________________________ 

By            _________________________________ 
    Title 

Surety     _________________________________ 

Address  __________________________________ 

By             _________________________________ 
Attorney in Fact 
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ATTACHMENT #3 

AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 

BID/RFP TITLE 

 (PROJECT NUMBER) 

This Agreement for Services (“Agreement”) made and entered into effect, the _____day of ___20___, by and between 

the County of Delaware, 201 West Front Street, Media, PA 19063, hereafter referred to as “County”, and Contractor’s 

Business Name and Business Address hereafter referred to as “Contractor”. 

I. Background 
 

County wishes to obtain goods and/or services as described in Exhibit "A" to this Agreement (the "Goods and 
Services"), the Contractor desires to provide the Services to the County, and the County has agreed to retain the 
Contractor to provide the Goods and Services to the County. 
 

II. Duties/Tasks 
 

A. Contractor shall perform the Services in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, in 
the attached “TERMS AND CONDITIONS” (including any addendum thereto) and in Exhibit "A" (hereinafter referred 
to as the submitted proposal) which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

 
B. It is expressly acknowledged by the parties that the County and Contractor are independent contracting parties. 

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create a principal/agent, employer/employee, or partnership or joint 
venture relationship. Contractor shall be responsible for paying any taxes applicable to payments made under this 
Agreement.  
 

C. Contractor certifies, for itself and all its permitted subcontractors, that as of the date of its execution of this 
Agreement, that neither Contractor, nor any subcontractor, nor any suppliers are under suspension or debarment 
by the Commonwealth or any governmental entity, instrumentality, or authority and, if Contractor cannot so 
certify, then it agrees to submit a written explanation of why such certification cannot be made. Contractor also 
certifies, that as of the date of its execution of the Agreement, it has no tax liabilities or other Commonwealth 
obligations.  A current list of suspended and debarred entities can be obtained by contacting: Department of 
General Services, Office of Chief Counsel, 603 North Office Building, Harrisburg, PA 17125, Telephone No. (717) 
783-6472 / FAX No. (717) 787-9138. 
 

D. Contractor shall maintain books, records, documents, correspondence, and other data pertaining to the costs and 
expenses of the Agreement, to the extent and in such detail as will properly reflect all costs, direct and operating 
of materials, equipment, supplies, and services, and other costs and expenses of whatever nature for which 
funding has been provided under the provisions of the Agreement. The books and records shall be maintained in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and subject to inspection upon reasonable request of 
the County.  Contractor agrees to require any permitted subcontractors to comply with the record keeping and 
retention requirements of this paragraph. 

 

III. Term and Termination 
 

A. The term of this Agreement shall be as set forth in the attached TERMS AND CONDITIONS and in Exhibit "A" to this 
Agreement. 

 

B. This Agreement may be terminated before the end of the term as follows:  
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(1) The County may terminate this Agreement without cause by giving thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor. 
 

(2) County may terminate this Agreement immediately by giving written notice of termination to the Contractor 
and without prejudice to any other rights or remedies the County may have if Contractor breaches any of its 
material obligations under this Agreement and does not cure the breach within five (5) business days after 
Contractor’s receipt of County’s notice of the breach, which notice shall specify in reasonable detail the nature 
of the breach. Contractor may terminate this Agreement immediately by giving written notice of termination to 
County and without prejudice to any other rights or remedies Contractor may have, if County breaches any of 
its material obligations under this Agreement and does not cure the breach within five (5) business days after 
County’s receipt of Contractor’s notice of the breach, which notice shall specify in reasonable detail the nature 
of the breach.  

(3) This Agreement and all rights of Contractor hereunder shall terminate upon the completion of the duties as 
defined in Exhibit “A”. If this Agreement is terminated for any reason, the County shall not be liable for any 
damages, claims, losses, or any other amounts arising from or related to such termination.  Contractor’s fees 
shall only be payable as accrued through the date of termination. 
 

IV. Payment/Compensation - Payments shall be made to the Contractor at the PRICE BID, on a monthly basis for all 
work performed during corresponding month.  Contractor agrees to reimburse County for overpayments resulting 
from any reason, including but not limited to errors, contract limitations, actual or audited cost adjustments or 
non-compliance with applicable policies and procedures. 
 

A. Contractor shall receive the compensation set forth in Exhibit “A” as payment for all the Goods and Services 
provided by Contractor pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

B. The total payments due under this Agreement for all Goods and Services provided by Contractor pursuant to 
this Agreement shall not exceed $___________ set forth in Exhibit “A”.  
 

C. After execution of this Agreement by Contractor and the County, each month after receipt of the Contractor’s 
Invoice, with respect to Goods and Services performed in the prior month, the County will pay the Contractor the 
amounts due under this Agreement as set forth in Exhibit “A”.  Contractor shall submit monthly invoices within 
thirty (30) days from the last day of the month within which the work is performed and/or goods delivered.  The 
final invoice shall be submitted within forty-five (45) days of this Agreement’s termination date.  County will 
neither honor nor be liable for invoices not submitted in compliance with the time requirements in this paragraph 
unless County agrees otherwise in writing.  Contractor shall be paid only for Goods and Services acceptable to 
County.  County will pay Contractor undisputed amounts due under this Agreement within forty-five (45) days of 
receipt of each invoice. 

 

V. Miscellaneous. 
 

A. Any provision of this Agreement which is in violation of any State or Federal law or regulation shall be 
deemed amended to conform with such law or regulation, except that if such change would materially and 
substantially alter the obligations of the parties under the Agreement. 

 

B. All government and business information disclosed by County to Contractor in connection with this 
Agreement shall be treated as confidential information unless it is or later becomes publicly available 
through no fault of Contractor, or it was or later is rightfully developed or obtained by Contractor from 
independent sources free from any duty of confidentiality. County’s confidential information shall be held 
in strict confidence by Contractor and shall not be used or disclosed by Contractor for any purpose except 
as reasonably necessary to implement or perform the Agreement, or except as required by law or 
governmental agency, provided that County is given a reasonable opportunity to obtain a protective order 
at its cost and expense. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement to be effective at 

the beginning of the Term as provided. 

OWNER:       CONTRACTOR:  

COUNTY OF DELAWARE, PENNSYLVANIA   CONTRACTOR’S BUSINESS NAME   

 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Delaware County Council – Chair    Name & Title of Person Authorized to Sign Contract 
 

ATTEST:        ATTEST: 

 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
County Clerk       Secretary or Assistant Secretary  
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

1. Bids may be withdrawn upon receipt of a written request prior to the stated due date and time.  If 
a firm/company seeks to withdraw a bid after the due date and time, the firm must present a 
notarized statement indicating that an error was made, with an explanation of how it occurred. The 
withdrawal request must be accompanied by documentation supporting the claim. Prior to 
approving or disapproving the request, an opinion will be obtained from the County’s Solicitor 
indicating whether the firm is bound by its bid submittal.  

 

Bids for projects that are solicited pursuant to the Pennsylvania Code § 62-5-512.f and Delaware 
County Code § 6-28 may be withdrawn as follows:   

 

The County must advise Bidders in the invitation to bid of the number of days that Bidders will be 
required to honor their bids. If a Bidder is not selected within sixty (60) days of opening the bids, any 
Bidder that is determined by the governmental entity to be unlikely of being selected for contract 
award will be released from the bid. 

 

2. The County shall be the sole judge of the quality and the applicability of all bids. Design, features, 
overall quality, local facilities, terms and other pertinent considerations will be taken into account in 
determining acceptability.  

 

3. The Contractor must assume full responsibility for delivery of all goods and services proposed. 
 

4. The Contractor must assume full responsibility for replacement of all defective or damaged goods 
and/or performance of contracted services within thirty (30) days’ notice by the County of such 
defect, damage or deficiency. 

 

5. The Contractor must assume full responsibility for providing warranty service on all goods, materials, 
or equipment provided to the County with warranty coverage. Should a vendor be other than the 
manufacturer, the Contractor, not the County, is responsible for contacting the manufacturer. The 
Contractor is solely responsible for arranging for the service to be performed. 

 

6. The Contractor shall be responsible for the proper training and certification of personnel used in the 
performance of the services proposed. 

 

7. The Contractor shall not assign, transfer, convey, sublet, or otherwise dispose of any contract 
resulting from the invitation to bid or of any of its rights, title or interest therein without prior written 
consent of the County.  

 

8. In case of default by the Contractor, the County may procure the articles or services from another 
source and hold the Contractor responsible for any resultant excess cost.  

 

9. All bids submitted to County of Delaware are subject to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania's Right 
to Know Law (RTKL), 65 P. S. §§ 67.101-67.3104, and the County’s interpretation thereof.  

 

10. The quantity of goods and/or services indicated on the foregoing Contract pages is approximate and for estimating 
purposes only.  

 

11. The Contract period for BID/RFP TITLE is (ENTER NUMBER OF YEARS) (#) years, with an option to extend for up to 
(ENTER NUMBER OF YEARS) (#) one (1) year periods and will begin MONTH, DAY, YEAR, and end MONTH, DAY, 
YEAR.  
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12. The Contract shall be awarded on the total of all items; therefore, bidder must bid on each part of said items for this 
bid to be considered. 

 

13. However, if the Contract is awarded on a fixed but not a firm price, the County then will honor price increases or 
decreases during the Contract period, but only when said increases or decreases originate with the manufacturers' 
or contractors' source of supply, and then only when properly documented to the County with supporting date as 
evidence thereof. 

 

14. If indicated below, the Contractor must furnish a Surety Bond, satisfactory to the County in the amount of One 
Hundred Percent (100%) of the contract price, conditioned on the faithful performance of the entire contract.  If the 
Contractor shall fail to execute a Contract and Bond as set forth in the Specifications and General Conditions, deposit 
shall be forfeited as liquidated damages. Applicable: [YES/NO]. 

 

15. The Contractor, must deduct the Manufacturer's Excise Tax, if any, which the County as a political sub-division is 
exempt from paying. 

 

16. The Contractor, shall not include any allowance for the Pennsylvania State Sales Tax, if any, which the County is also 
exempt from paying. 
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ADDENDUM:  

Attach Addendum Here If Any 
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EXHIBIT A 

SERVICES 
BID/RFP TITLE 

 (PROJECT NUMBER) 

SPECIFICATIONS AND GENERAL CONDITIONS 
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EXHIBIT B 

COMPENSATION 

The County of Delaware agrees to compensate the Contractor as follows: 

The County of Delaware agrees to compensate Contractor for all services performed under this Agreement in an amount 

not to exceed $________________, which is the estimated cost for goods and services for a period of _____ years. The 

(unit/monthly, annual, etc.)  price(s) are as provided below:  


